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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

COpy 

SAN FIlANCISctjpNr~ ij &.} 1 ~ 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, Case No. ______ _ 

Plaintiff, COMPLAINT 
v. 

IGORS NAGAICEVS, 

Defendant. 

24 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") alleges: 

25 SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

26 1. This action involves a brazen stock price manipulation scheme by defendant Igors 

27 Nagaicevs ("Nagaicevs") of Latvia. Nagaicevs hijacked the online accounts of innocent 

28 customers at large broker-dealer firms in the United States and made unauthorized purchases and 
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1 sales of securities that were listed on major stock exchanges, including the New York Stock 

2 Exchange ("NYSE"). Nagaicevs conducted those unauthorized trades to manipulate the prices of 

3 stocks in which he already held a position through one of at least eight unregistered trading firms 

4 where Nagaicevs was an authorized trader. The scheme enabled Nagaicevs to consistently derive 

5 quick trading profits, even ifhe manipulated the price of the security by only a small amount. 

6 2. From June 2009 through August 2010, Nagaicevs conducted unauthorized trading 

7 in hijacked online customer accounts on at least 159 occasions. On each of the 159 occasions, 

8 Nagaicevs followed the same pattern of stock price manipulation. First, he established a long or 

9 short position in a security by placing a buy or sell order through one ofthe trading firms. 

10 Nagaicevs then gained access to an online brokerage account and made large unauthorized trades 

11 in the same security to manipulate the stock price in his favor, often using cash held in the 

12 hijacked account or making other unauthorized sales in the account to generate equity for his 

13 manipulative purchases. Finally, during or shortly after the manipulative trading in the intruded 

14 account, Nagaicevs closed out his position through one of the trading firms at the artificial 

15 market price to generate a profit. These transactions created the false appearance of legitimate 

16 trading activity and artificially affected the market prices of 104 NYSE and Nasdaq securities. 

17 3. Nagaicevs generated more than $850,000 in illegal profits from this scheme. His 

18 unauthorized trading in the hijacked accounts also caused losses in excess of $2 million which 

19 were reimbursed by the broker-dealer firms that carried the victimized customer accounts. 

20 Attached to this Complaint, and incorporated herein by reference, is an Appendix showing the 

21 date, security, trading account and profit involved in each ofNagaicevs's account intrusions and 

22 stock price manipulations. 

23 4. Nagaicevs's unauthorized trading and deceptive stock transactions violated 

24 Section 1 O(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), as well as Rule 10b5-1 

25 thereunder, because they involved deceptive conduct and a fraudulent scheme in connection with 

26 the purchase or sale of securities. His unauthorized trading and deceptive transactions also 

27 violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") because they involved 

28 deceptive conduct and a fraudulent scheme in the offer or sale of a security. 
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1 

2 5. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

The Commission brings this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d) and 22(a) of 

3 the Securities Act [15 U.S.c. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d) and 77v(a)] and Sections 2I(d) and 21(e) ofthe 

4 Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78u(e)]. 

5 6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21 (d), 21 (e) and 

6 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa]. 

7 7. Defendant, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instrumentalities of 

8 interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange in 

9 connection with the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business alleged herein. 

10 8. Venue in this District is proper pursuant to Section 27 ofthe Exchange Act 

11 [15 U.S.C. § 78aa] because a substantial part ofthe acts and transactions constituting the 

12 violations alleged in this Complaint occurred within the Northern District of California. 

13 INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT 

14 9. Under Civil Local Rule 3-2, this civil action should be assigned to the San 

15 Francisco or Oakland Divisions, because a substantial part of the events or omissions which give 

16 rise to the claim occurred in San Mateo County. 

17 DEFENDANT 

18 10. Igors Nagaicevs, age 34, is a Latvian citizen. In agreements and other related 

19 documents with certain trading firms, Nagaicevs provided an address in Jurmala, Latvia. 

20 Between June 2009 and August 2010 (the "relevant period"), Nagacievs traded securities in 

21 United States secUrities markets as an authorized trader through omnibus brokerage accounts 

22 held in the names of at least eight unregistered trading firms. 

23 RELEVANT ENTITIES 

24 11. Alchemy Ventures, Inc. ("Alchemy") is a California corporation with its principal 

25 place of business in San Mateo, California During the relevant period, approximately 250 

26 individuals traded as many as 300 million shares per month on U.S. exchanges in an omnibus 

27 account held in Alchemy'S name at a registered broker-dealer. 

28 
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1 12. KM Capital Management, LLC ("KM") is a Pennsylvania limited liability 

2 company with its principal place of business in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. During the relevant 

3 period, approximately 1 0 individuals traded as many as two million shares per month on U.S. 

4 exchanges in omnibus accounts held in KM's name at registered broker-dealers. 

5 13. Zanshin Enterprises, LLC ("Zanshin") is a Texas limited liability company that 

6 had its principal place of business in Boise, Idaho until it ceased operations in February 2010. 

7 During the relevant period, until Zanshin ceased operations, approximately 125 individuals traded 

8 as many as four million shares per month on U.S. exchanges in an omnibus account held in 

9 Zanshin's name at a registered broker-dealer. 

10 14. Mercury Capital ("Mercury") is a Nevada corporation that had its principal place 

11 of business in La Jolla, California until it ceased operations in November 2010. During the relevant 

12 period, approximately 600 individuals traded as many as 800 million shares per month on U.S. 

13 exchanges in an omnibus account held in Mercury's name at a registered broker-dealer. 

14 15. Firm E is a Cayman Islands corporation that has its principal place of business in 

15 Montreal, Quebec. During the relevant period, Firm E provided trading access to individuals, 

16 including Nagaicevs, through an omnibus account held in its name at a registered broker-dealer. 

17 16. Firm F is a Florida limited liability company that has its principal place of 

18 business in New York, New York. During the relevant period, Firm F provided trading access to 

19 individuals, including Nagaicevs, through an omnibus account held in its name at a registered 

20 broker-dealer. 

21 17. Firm G is a New York limited liability company that had its principal place of 

22 business in New York, N ew York until it ceased operations in January 2010. During the relevant 

23 period, Firm G provided trading access to individuals, including Nagaicevs, through an omnibus 

24 account held in its name at a registered broker-dealer. 

25 18. Firm H is a Delaware corporation that has its principal place of business in New 

26 York, New York. During the relevant period, Firm H provided trading access to individuals, 

27 including Nagaicevs, through an omnibus account held in its name at a registered broker-dealer. 

28 
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1 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

2 A. The Market Access Provided To Nagaicevs 

3 19. The following chart illustrates the relationships through which the unregistered 

4 trading firms received market access from registered broker-dealers and extended the market 

5 access to Nagaicevs. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

MERCURY CAPITAL 
Naga/cevs: 77 Intrusions, 

$433,816 in prof"lIs. 

ALCHEMY VENTURES 
Nagaicevs: 22 Intrusions, 

$149,288 in profits 

KMCAPITAL 
Naga/cevs:26 Intrusions, 

$121,222 in profits 

ZANSHIN ENTERPRISES 
Nagalcevs: 9 intrusions, 

$55,725 in prof"lIs 

FIRME 
Naga/cevs: 10 Intrusions, 

$49,437 in prof"lIs 

FIRMF 
Nagaicevs: 7 Intrusions, 

$39,935 in profits 

FIRMG 
Nagaicevs: 7 Intrusions, 

$20,784 in profits 

FIRMH 
Nagaicevs: 1 Intrusion, 

$4,679 in profits 

19 20. From at least June to September 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

20 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in the name of Firm 

21 E. Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Firm E on any trading records 

22 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Firm E ultimately identified Nagaicevs as 

23 the trader responsible for all of Firm E's trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

24 Complaint. That trading involved ten intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-dealer 

25 firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $49,437 in illicit 

26 profits for Nagaicevs. 

27 21. From at least July to August 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

28 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in the name of Firm 
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1 F. Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Firm F on any trading records 

2 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Firm F ultimately identified Nagaicevs as 

3 the trader responsible for all of Firm F's trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

4 Complaint. That trading involved seven intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-

5 dealer firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $39,935 in 

6 illicit profits for Nagaicevs. 

7 22. From at least August to September 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

8 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in the name of Firm 

9 G. Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Firm G on any trading records 

10 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Firm G ultimately identified Nagaicevs as 

11 the trader responsible for all of Firm G's trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

12 Complaint. That trading involved seven intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-

13 dealer firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $20,784 in 

14 illicit profits for Nagaicevs. 

15 23. From at least September to December 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

16 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in Alchemy's name. 

17 Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Alchemy on any trading records 

18 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Alchemy ultimately identified Nagaicevs 

19 as the trader responsible for all of Alchemy'S trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

20 Complaint. That trading involved twenty-two intrusions into online customer accounts at 

21 broker-dealer firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated 

22 $149,288 in illicit profits for Nagaicevs. 

23 24. From at least October to December 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

24 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in Zanshin's name. 

25 Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Zanshin on any trading records 

26 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Zanshin ultimately identified Nagaicevs as 

27 the trader responsible for all of Zanshin's trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

28 Complaint. That trading involved nine intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-dealer 
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1 firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $55,725 in illicit 

2 profits for Nagaicevs. 

3 25. In at least December 2009, Nagaicevs traded in the United States securities 

4 markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in the name of Firm H. 

5 Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Firm H on any trading records 

6 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, Firm H ultimately identified Nagaicevs as 

7 the trader responsible for all of Firm H's trading activity described in the Appendix to this 

8 Complaint That trading involved one intrusion into an online customer account at a broker-

9 dealer firm for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $4,679 in 

10 illicit profits for Nagaicevs. 

11 26. From at least January to August 2010, Nagaicevs traded in the United States 

12 securities markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in KM's name. 

l3 Although Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with KM on any trading records 

14 maintained by a registered broker-dealer or exchange, KM ultimately identified Nagaicevs as the 

15 trader responsible for all ofKM's trading activity described in the Appendix to this Complaint. 

16 That trading involved twenty-six intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-dealer firms 

17 for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $121,222 in illicit 

18 profits for Nagaicevs. 

19 27. From at least April to July 2010, Nagaicevs traded in the United States securities 

20 markets as an authorized trader through an omnibus account held in Mercury's name. Although 

21 Nagaicevs was not identified in connection with Mercury on any trading records maintained by a 

22 registered broker-dealer or exchange, Mercury ultimately identified Nagaicevs as the trader 

23 responsible for all of Mercury's trading activity described in the Appendix to this Complaint. 

24 That trading involved seventy-seven intrusions into online customer accounts at broker-dealer 

25 firms for the purpose of placing unauthorized buy or sell orders and generated $433,816 in illicit 

26 profits for Nagaicevs. 

27 

28 
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1 B. The Account Intrusion And Market Manipulation Scheme 

2 28. As set forth in the Appendix, on 159 occasions between June 2009 and August 

3 2010, Nagaicevs made profitable trades through an omnibus account of one of the unregistered 

4 trading firms contemporaneous with unauthorized trading in the same securities in hijacked 

5 online customer accounts at mUltiple u.s. broker-dealers. 

6 29. Each incident followed essentially the same pattern. First, Nagaicevs established 

7 a long or short position in a security through one of the unregistered trading firms. Then 

8 Nagaicevs surreptitiously gained access to an online customer account and made large 

9 unauthorized trades in the same security to manipulate the stock price in his favor, often using 

10 cash held in the hijacked account or making other unauthorized sales in the account to generate 

11 equity for his manipulative purchases. Finally, during or shortly after the manipulative trading in 

12 the intruded account, Nagaicevs closed out his initial position through one of the unregistered 

13 trading firms at the artificial market price to generate a profit. 

14 30. The entire pattern was always completed within the same trading day, often in 

15 only 15 to 20 minutes. As shown in the Appendix, Nagaicevs often was responsible for more 

16 than 50% of the subject stock's daily trading volume as a result of the manipulative scheme. 

17 31. Paragraphs 32 to 36 and the chart below provide one representative example of 

18 the manner in which Nagaicevs executed his market manipulation scheme, in this instance 

19 involving the stock of Greenbriar Companies, Inc., anNYSE-listed security with ticker symbol 

20 "GBX." Over the course of 32 minutes on October 26, 2009, Nagaicevs generated more than 

21 $14,000 in illegal profits by twice taking a position in GBX, driving up the stock price by 

22 purchasing shares through another account to which he had obtained unauthorized access, and 

23 then liquidating his position at a profit. 

24 32. The closing price ofGBX on Friday, October 23,2009 was $9.94 on volume of 

25 89,500 shares. On Monday, October 26,2009, the opening price ofGBX was $9.94. 

26 33. At 12:02 pm on October 26, Nagaicevs purchased 20,000 GBX shares through the 

27 Alchemy account for an average price of$10.05. 

28 
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1 34. Between 12:04 and 12:08 pm, just minutes after Nagaicevs purchased GBX 

2 shares in the Alchemy account, an online brokerage account was illegally accessed and limit 

3 orders to purchase 49,000 GBX shares at prices escalating from $10.20 to $10.40 were placed 

4 without the knowledge ofthe account holder. All 49,000 GBX shares were purchased in the 

5 intruded account between 12:04 and 12:19 pm at prices escalating from $9.96 to $10.40. 

6 35. Between 12:07 and 12:08 pm, at the same time that unauthorized purchases were 

7 being executed in the intruded account, Nagaicevs sold all 20,000 GBX shares in the Alchemy 

8 account at prices ranging from $10.40 to $10.49 per share, generating a profit of $7,066. 

9 36. At 12:21 pm, Nagaicevs liquidated the GBX holdings in the intruded account, 

10 driving GBX's stock price back down to $10.05. Between 12:29 and 12:34 pm, Nagaicevs 

11 continued the manipulation by purchasing 22,800 GBX shares at an average price of$10.05 

12 through the Zanshin account, then making unauthorized purchases of GBX in the intruded 

13 account to raise the stock price to $10.39, and then selling the 22,800 GBX shares in the Zanshin 

14 account at the artificially elevated price for an additional profit of $7,076. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Victim 

Nagaicevs 
-Zanshin 

Victim 
Nagaicevs 
- Zanshin 

B 

S 

B 

B 

S 

37. 21 The fraudulent scheme described above was repeated by Nagaicevs on 159 

22 occasions over a·14-month period, artificially affecting the market prices of 104 different NYSE 

23 and Nasdaq securities. Nagaicevs generated total ill-gotten gains in excess of$850,000 from the 

24 scheme through the omnibus accounts held in the names of the unregistered trading firms. 

25 Nagaicevs's manipUlative trading in the hijacked accounts also caused losses in excess of$2 

26 million which were reimbursed by the broker-dealer firms that carried the victimized customer 

27 accounts. It also caused losses for other investors who submitted orders during the intrusions at 

28 artificial market prices. 
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2 

3 

4 

38. 

39. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act 

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 37. 

Nagaicevs has, by engaging in the conduct set forth above, directly or indirectly, 

5 in the offer or sale of securities, by the use of means or instruments of transportation or 

6 communication in interstate commerce, or of the mails: 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 40. 

(a) 

(b) 

with scienter, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; 

obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact 

or by omitting to state material facts necessary in order to make statements made, 

in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

(c) engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated 

or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities. 

By reason of the foregoing, Nagaicevs has directly or indirectly violated Section 

14 17(a) ofthe Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and unless enjoined will continue to violate 

15 Section 17(a) of the Securities Act. 

16 SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

17 Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder 

18 

19 

41. 

42. 

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 40. 

By engaging in the conduct described above, Nagaicevs, directly or indirectly, in 

20 connection with the purchase or sale of securities, by the use of means or instrumentalities of 

21 interstate commerce or of the mails, with scienter: 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a) 

(b) 

employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; 

made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; and 

(c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operatetl or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons, including purchasers and sellers 

of securities. 
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1 43. By reason ofthe foregoing, Nagaicevs has violated and, unless restrained and 

2 enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and 

3 Rule lOb-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.l0b-5]. 

4 RELIEF REQUESTED 

5 WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court: 

6 I. 

7 Permanently enjoin Defendant Nagaicevs from directly or indirectly violating Section 

8 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)], Section lOeb) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.c. § 

9 78j(b)], and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. 

10 II. 

11 Order Defendant Nagaicevs to disgorge his ill-gotten gains according to proof, plus 

. 12 prejudgment interest thereon. 

l3 III. 

14 Order Defendant Nagaicevs to pay a civil penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the 

15 Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §'78u(d)]. 

16 IV. 

17 Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and the 

18 Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and 

19 decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion for additional 

20 relief within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

21 ¥ 

22 Grant such other and further relief as this Court may determine to be just, equitable, and 

23 necessary. 

24 Dated: January'Lb , 2012 

25. 

26 

27 

28 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Jina~ 
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APPENDIX 

Trade Date Security. 

1 I 6/30/2009 : Build-A-Bear Workshop, Inc. SSW I Firm E $50 
2 .. , 7/1/2009:Startek, Inc. SRT : -FlrmE·--- j-$2,038 

! ;~~~;~;9 .1~~:~d66~~~t~o~~ . .... ._ .. f!~[-~~~~_T~i.~E 
5 7/23/2009 jVolt In!()rrn~ti()n Sciences, Inc. _____ .. ___ YQl:. __ J _____ Elr'!1_E ___ l ____ ~~~~_~Q __ 
6 8/12/2009 lAM Castle & Co- .. --- CAS'! Firm G I $2,079 

7 8/12/2009 lAM Castle & co--cAst- Firm F i $3,751 
, -- -.. --.--.. -1·_·-- -----.-- .. -----.j ----- --.. ------

8 8/14/2009 :Venoco, Inc. VQ i Firm G I $1,500 

g: 8/14/??OH .lvenoco, Inc. - '!..O: ~_.-I~-~~:~-~~ii1--~~~---' -_~_-~_5_~~_~~-· 
10 I 8/27/2009 [Winthrop Realty Trust FUR Firm G $720 

1_~ 8/27/~009 [V\finthroPRealtyTrust _____ -----~---r-~~~~-l~~--~~~-~-- __ :---~~$~i38- __ 
12 8/28/2009 j Symmetry Medical, Inc.. _.. .. ... I __ SMA _j _ __~~~1"Il G __ J _ ~~,5~4 
13 8/28/2009 !Cohen & ?~~~rs Clo~~d-~_n~.c!p~_~~~~~~_F~nd i __ !9~ __ _ __ . ~~~_rn_ F_ - --- tl ___ ~!,~~_O __ 
.14 i 8/28/2009 iSymmetry Medical, Inc. : SMA, Firm F $7,983 
~.!~J-8?~~!~~~~ t SkilledHealthcareGrOup,lnc.-----l---SKH- -------FirmF-----T-$6,942----
16 i 8/31/2009 -rBabcoc-k&BrownAirTim~ed----------------- ----r--FLy- -- Firm-G---i~$1~84----

J~ 1·_~/~1/2~~9_-J~~~~ri~ h~!~~~_r~~_~~-· -- -: -=-~-:---=--:--:~~--~==~~--~-~I--~-~~~=~- .=----Fiym-~~ __ ~:t_--$-~~~_~~~~-~ 
:: ' :~~~~~~~-:--!~:~:r~~~~~~~I:~c. --- - -------------------+--~~~--- -~~~~~~~-i~-~~~~~--
~~ i· :;~~~~~:r~:~~ ~~~e:[~:~it:n~~~::~,i~~~m"Fun~::::t~~~--j~~~:r~-t~· !~~~ 

• __ ..• 1 _. _. __ • __ . __ • ___ J ____ ._ ........ _______________ .. ___ .. __ . _____ . _____ . ___________ .. __ ._. __ ._L ____________ 1 __ . ____ . ______ . ____ ~-----------
22 : 9/16/2009 iAssociated Estates Realty Corp. I AEC i Firm G 1 $6,931 

- 23- ;--9116/2009 I-ASSOCiated -Estates RealtiCorp-.-- - .. -------------{f--- AEC---t --AlChe-my---- 1----$7,12.4"---
.- -.. -.-.- i-·-··· ... --.---- .. --- --~ .. -- -.. -.---.- .. -- .. -.----. ------- .--.-----------------------... --.-------- ·-~-----t----·-----l----·------
_~~J __ ~/_~~~~~O~ __ !_Aircastle Ltd AYR Firm E __ L $4,874 
25 1 9/18/2009 ICare Inves-tment Trl.lst,-Inc.----------------------- ---CRE---I Firm-E --$2~649--­

---.-----~-- .. ---------- ...1--- - ---- ---.--;----. -... -.-- .. ----.--.. -----.--.----.- ... ----.----------------I-----------t---~. ~J-----------
~J~j-~~;_~;~~~~:_-~-:~te&;~~~1~:~r~I-~?~~~~~-C-?!?-:------------------,.--~~~---- ·---;:h:~----~---$$19t298~ ---

,... . . -.1---- _. __________ ._. _______ .... _. __ . ___ .. ____ .... ____ ._._ .. __ .. _. ____ ._. ____ . ____ .~-.------- ___ . _________ j_ _ 
__ ~~.l __ ~!~~/3_00~ . J~_I~~_O. ~!r~~:~!~_ ~~o~~_I_~_o,.,.t_~_~!1_~ ________________ j----~~-~-J----~~~he..r-ny _____ ~_~~~8-~---

-~~ t--~~~~~-~~~-I-~~~:~~-B~~~~~,r~nc.-- ----- ,--------------- +--~~~ -J-------~-~~~~~ -H~~~~--
__ _ __, . ______ ... L ___ . __ . ___ .. __ .. _______ . ___ . __ . __ ..... _ ... ______ . ____ .. __ ... _ ... ______ ~ __ . _______ ._ .. l ___ .________ _ ... ______________ .. __ J_. ___________ _ 

31 ! 9/30/2009 jSteak n Shake Co. i SNS I Alchemy I $10,815 

-_~2~r1~~~?!3~~9-rCy~~~~~~g~,'-n~:----------~------=~===-==--==~-t--~~-~- ~= AI~tieri1y - t_)5~880_= 
-~! t~~~~~~~~~-+~~~~~-~:~r-~~~~~-~~-V-~!:~-~~I~~~~------n I ~~~ ~--~:~~:~t--+--:~6~;1--

-- ---1- -..... -- -- ---- -. - -r--· -------- -- -.-.... -----. ----.-------.- -------.--- -----------. ---- -·---·'----··----·----l----·-·-------+-----------~ 

35 ~ ~~~;~~~~: --:~~~:;.~!~~fa°l.l~~~~=:~~~~-~~?~t~-~u!1~-----------~----~~~ --tl----~~~:~~ --+----:~~~~~-.--
.. --.-.- ----.- - .-.- ---.. ----___ . __ .. _ .... _. _._ .. __ ._. _______ ... ______________ . __ . __ -1--- __________ . __ -__________ -._--.-.---.-----

10/26/2009H&Q Life Sciences Investors ! HQl Alchemy i $1,010 
_. __ . ---- - -- --_. _. __ ._-------------.- -_._-._ .. ------------_._---_._._._-------_._------------+-----------~------.--.. ---

38 10/26/2009 ,Greenbrier Companies Inc. i GSX i Alchemy i $7,066 
--39- -- -1 0/26/2009 : Green briar companies i"nc.------- -- -- ---r--GsX- -r---zanshin-----t--$7,076----

.,.. _ ______ .. _____ . __ .. __ . ___ . ___ ._ .... _. L_. __ . __ . _______________ ._-__ ... ________ . __ _ 

40 10/27/2009 iMedia General, Inc. ! MEG I Alchemy i $13,495 
41 10/27/2009 ;-Neenah Paper, Inc. - --j---NP----:---- AiCherriY--r--!h2:5~f5---

--42 10/28/2009 ;Cohe-n-&si-eers REIT&-ui"iliiYTncome-Fl.In-a---- --;---- RTu - r -- -Zanshin--!~$2~440--
4310/28/2009 ! RPC Inc. --- - -------- --- ----- ----- -----i--RES----i--zanshir'-t----$!{099---_. __ . _ ... _ _ . ___ . _______ ._. __ .. ______________ + ____________ -+ _____ . ________ . __ ._. ___ ..1 _______________ _ 

44 .. ~. 0~~~/_2?09 ; Safe _~~I~er:,,_~nc. _____ . ________ _ ______ . ___ L~_~ ____ L~~_nshi_~ ___ l.1~2,8~~---
45 11/18/2009 iTechnitrol, Inc. i TNl i Zanshin . $700 

. I 
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.~~j-- ~~~~~~~~~~i~~~~~f~~~~~s~~~en-ces'nc.-- . ------- - - --- ~- ----~~~-- - +- ~I:~::~--i ~~\~~2----

.---- - _. -- ---.---- - ... - - L ______ . __ .---- --.. ---.--... -.-- .. --.---------- - -.. -- - ------ .. - ----1-------r-________ --L--______ _ ;: . .11~~~~~~99f ~~i~:S~le~~~~~~Z~~: Inc. . .j=¥~~j~~~:~~-~_:~J~:~~=~ 
_5? ___ 1~/_!~!2009_~ Kenn~~~C?_I~ _ ~~~?~_C!_iO_~~ I~c._ _ . _. ____ -L-~~~----L ___ zarl.~_h_i_~ __ __i---~~~!~~~--
51 1 12/11/2009 :Associated Estates Realty Corp. I AEC I Alchemy I $2,873 
52 : 1211"4i2:0-09 IF'ederal Ag-ncuiiuraI"Mortg-age corp:----f--AGM -----:------Alche-my----i---$10,074----

._-- ... _ ... _ .. - _._._--- ._---------------_._- - ..... _------ . -_.- , .. __ .... _---_._-_.+------_ .. _---_._-_.--!---_._._------_._._---
53 12/15/2009 Buckeye Technologies, Inc. i BKI I Alchemy i $6,420 

- t- --8lT -L-- --AI~-~e_~j:~~T~~3~~j_~----54 
55 

56 

12/15/2009 . Blount International, Inc. 

12/16/2009 

12/30/2009 

;ACCO Brands Corporation 

;Alon USA Energy, Inc. 

T ABD : Alchemy I $9,100 

1- ALJ i Firm H i $4,679 
-. -1- -.--- - _. ------ .. -------.-- ----.--- ---.--- .. ----.---.- .-

~;~l :i~~l~ l~n:~ri:f~ I~~: . . . ...... l~~~~--~-==~==t-=}1%i~= 
-3/31/2010-- !PremTere Glo-b-aISerVice, Inc. __ -__ ~_=--T:~~~~}==:t=:~~_~=KM~_=j=~$2~-~-2:~-~ 
-"3/31/2010--[ ~_~~~_a_!?i~it~I __ iV __ H_?I~~n~ Co. uci_____ _ __ _ .!~~ __ J----~~----J- $2~97~_ 

4~~~11}o\~~~~l~1~.~!~:~~:·:~~· ··==·········~~··-t=~~~~-=:-= ·f~~f1i··-
65 4/26/201 o TeAT Internatiorlafinc. - - - -- - -- -r--cAp-- - t----Mercury----,---$-3;S50-

66 4/26/2010 : Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea-Co. - -- - - --I -GAi -- L-MercurY----~--- $4,790--

--~! __ ~~!~~!2~-1_0J?vv~~!~-~~!kei-ln-COrl,-e-Trust"- - --- - -- i-KMM -+---Kfv1- r· $(871-

.. ~~. i ~~~~~;~. t~~~~I¥neJ,~1~lnc .- ~-. -:~ T~~t,,----r- M:'~ry ···~~~4 
=~~I- 5~flff6~~-~2::~tcup:'nc: - •....... ·~---~-~-=E~~0~J=~~:~~~1--$!~la:-
~!~_T--~!~!~~-1~g- -jLYda";-ln-c.--- --- --- - ____ ---------.J:'---ALVD-D~----~I--- MMeerrCcuUryry. - I $$270-,-8,-6-0303--
73; 6/3/201 01AmericanVangua-rdCorp. l 

. _! 4~6/4i2-0 10-_ . f~a-r-ine_-~ro~~~~-C?~~.·· _ u ••••• --:_-_-_-~~=~_-_--~=T~u~!0-~~_~~~[=~~~~CU_ry-_~_t- $ ~~~_~ -_= 
75 i 6/4/2010 : Skystar Bio-Pharmaceutical Co. . _____ ____________ ~-~~~L--~ ____ M~~curr. __ 1 _.!~?,7~~ ___ _ 

- 76-r i3/4/2010-'Marine-Products-Corp: -- 1 MPX I Mercury I $1 428 
-"77-:-61412010 ---i-penfordcorp:-------- ------ .- -- -------------t--PE-Nx-t---rvlercury-i-· $~64 ----

L - ----- -+- --- -------- ------ - - - ----.--.-------.------.--L--------t-----------j------------

-~~--; --~~~~~~~ ~~~~~~[:r!~~~~t:~l~-/~~· ......... -- -------------------t~~~--t--~~~~~~ -~--}~::~ ~ -
--a-O-T- --(3/9/2010-- cAMBAC FirianciaIGroup~-lric-.5.875%- i5ei;--------:I--AKT---I---- Me-rcurY----+~245--

____________ . _________ . ____ .__L_ ___ __ • _._. __ ._____ _ __._._._._.. __________ . ____________ .. _____ ._ ..... ____ ._ .. ________ .. __ + ____________ . _______ . ____ _ 
81 I 6/10/2010 [Globe Specialty Metals, Inc. I GSM I· Mercury I $837 

--82-:-6ho/201O--~Mo-rton~ResTaurantGroup,-iric.---------··----------!-----MRr-i-Mercu~-$5,769-
- ------'--_ .. - ... _-_.------_. "------- -- -- -_. - ..... _. -- --- ----_.. -_ .. - .. ------ -------~.------~---.. --.- -' -----------~-------.---
83 i 6/10/2010 Cache, Inc. I CACH I Mercury I $6,012 

-_.- --.-~- "_ ... - ---- -_.. ---- .... -. --- ----- -.-----... -.--- - - ... ------.~--------___r___-------~-----.. --- ---t------.---~----.--

:~-:---:~-~~~~~~ ~-:~~~Jr~~~~~!~~~~ia~-~Olding~,-I~C.- _______________ +_ ~~~*+ ~~~~~~---~:::~~; ~ . 
__ . __ . _______ . _______ _____ _ _ ._ _ _____ . _____ . _______ ____________________ ---L ___ .. ___________ . _____ ----L.. ___________ ._ 

86 6/11/2010 :China Wind Systems, Inc. ! CWS I Mercury $5,582 
-----,---_._-- _ .... _._-- --- - -+.- -_. ---_.---- ------- .- ----_ .. _.------- -_._----.---- --------.j ----

87. 6/11/2010 :Stoneridge, Inc. i SRI i Mercury ! $4,735 
88- 6/11/2010---SkyPeople-FruitJu-ice, Inc.------- -----r--spO-- T---Mercu-rY-l--$3~993---

...... __ .. _ . __ ... ________ ... ____ . ____ + _________________ . ___ .______ ___ ________ __ _ _ ___ __ . ______ .. _________ ... ___ ._._ .. __ ."'- ________ . __ . ____ ._L. _____ . ______ -------L ___________ . 

89 : 6/14/2010 :Center Bancorp, Inc. ! CNBC i Mercury r $6,254 
- -------'- .- --1_ ------ ------ _____ • _ -____ _._ _ •••• ___ ___ ___ _ ___ • _____ ._ ----__ ••• __ • ____ .!. - .---------t----------------I---.-------

90 ' 6/15/2010 i BBVA Banco Frances SA i BFR I Mercury I $2,402 
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TBSI Mercury I $5,807 
--.-.-----. - L~-·---------·-·-··------t------·-----·----

RCON: Mercury I $5,270 
- --' '---.- -'j ._._--.--_._---------- _. _._._----_.- -_ ... _--_ .... -

FLML i Mercury I $5,367 
. _ ... ,_. _ .... ~ __ .... ____ .. __ .... _._. __ ._ ... __ .L _____ .... _ ._ .. __ .... ____ _ 

-rNGP-Capital Resources-Comp~nt____ _ _ ___ ~~~_~ ___ L_~_~_r_curt ____ l __ ~_2,~~~ __ 

:Am~ri~~n Va~~ua_rd Corp. ~'!..f? ___ .L_~_~rc~ry ____ t.-!~~_~~ ___ _ 
'Miller Petroleum, Inc. MILL ! Mercury I $1,615 
!Anlbac--Financial Group Inc. 5.95% .- -- AKF-'j-~--ii1ercu-ry---- t--$10~791----

-.. 'ReconT eChonology, Ltd. . _ ~~O_~ J~_~:_~~~~~-~~_~J~~_!~6.:4~~_-_--~ 
._lPROSHOldirigs,_lnc. . ---~~~---l---- --~-~~~-ry---.l-$-~,?~~--.-

:American Vanguard Corp. AVO i Mercury [$7,028 

-~i\MBAC FinanCial Group, Inc. 5.875% Deb '-~!\~~_:-f~=~~~~u!Y--~--L __ $_5~-~-~~~~: 

91 6/15/2010 

92 6/15/2010 

93 6/15/2010 

94 6/16/2010 

95 6/16/2010 

96 6/16/2010 
.. _ .. 

97 6/17/2010 
.- -- .. 

98 6/18/2010 
u 

99 ; 6/23/2010 

100 ' 6/23/2010 
10-{; 6/23/2010 

6/23/2010 

TBS International PLC 
_.. -_ .. 

Recon Techonology, Ltd. 
.... - - "-. -. ---- .--- -_ ... 

Flamel Technologies SA 

! NeurogesX, Inc. ! NGSX i Mercury I $~4,955 

__ _.____ __ .._~~~-.J~~:-~~~~~_ry:-=~t~_-E~~1_---
102 : 
103 ;-

104'. 6/23/2010 West Bancorporation i WTBA! Mercury I $8,007 
-105 E3/23/20-10 Flamei -TechnologiesSA------ ··-tFLM[--J-~-Mercury-l-$5,018--
1~6i . . 7/1/2010 oceanp01/ierT!C~nOlogies,lnc~=l~n-tMercury~=t-I--=- $3,~68 =--
107

1 
7/212010 jFlamel Technologies SA _. L£~~L_J ___ ~~rcury_____ ~S_~OO ___ _ 

168-:-7/6/2010 :West Bancorporation : WTBA L Mercury I $4,750 
_i~~:t 7/6/2010 - iNeurogesX,lnc:----- .------- ____ l~_=N9~~ __ J __ ~ercury~ j $5,133 __ -

11~_,u 7/6/2010 jFlameTTeC-hnol09ies SA - _ :_..r=_L~~_J __ Mercury I $5,896 ____ _ 
111 ; .. 716.-.j_2.· .. ·0.-_1.-_'c)~JRockyBrands:-lnc. -------- -- i RCKY I Mercury i $6,289 

;;;: ;;:~~~~ !gftie~:~~~~!fXOlogies. Inc. .. i-g~~~t-~;:~f~~~--
114 :-jii3i2-0-10TpFfos-HOldings,Tnc.-----

u ---r----PR6--+- Mercury 1 $2,065 ---
115: 7/6/2010 !Neurog-es5(-lnc.--· - .. - - ··!NGSKI---MerCUry---t--$6~153~-

-116t mj16/20f6- --twe;£sanc-orporaiion ---------- ----- m---------r-WTBA--r---Mercur:y--1 $3~Tn-

-1171- -7 i6j20-1-0- !'Flamelfechnoiogies SA . ~_~~ ~~-_~::--__ ~~_: __ ~j_--F~_~~_=J=_ Mercury - "-_-=$62 -= 
~!!~:r-!!~~7?~1()I~t~~~t~-~~~J~~~~~--_--'~--- -- i GASS! Mercury ! $2,737 . 
119! 7/16/2010 iStealthGas, Inc. u_______ . --- ---T-uGAS-Su-l---Mercury-r- $3-;-8~07--

-120i--
u
7/1si2010-tWestBancorporaiion- -----. - --- - -- ---- - -- - jWTBA- - Mercury---1--$5,24 7 

.---. --- -j----.. -----~--~ ___ L. _____ . __ · ____ .. __________ u ______ u _____ ·· -- _u ____ -- u___ _ ---- -- _u_ _1 ____ ~- -__ ----, _____ _ 

_ !?!_i ___ !~~.?~2_?~10_J~!~~~LT~~~~~I~~i:s_~,A.____ _ __ u ___ L~~~~~ ____ ~ercury~_j ____ ~,7~~ __ 
122: 7/16/2010 : Rocky Brands, Inc. i RCKY Mercury I $7,083 

~~~~-1-~~~~~~~~~1~Jt:~n~t~~~!t~~n-~og,~S-~I~c:- .• ~--~----~--:-:~~-=~r=-~{;O~~1-· ~:~~~~---F ~!::~~ 
:_! ?~I-!/1~~?~1_0Jr£~~~§m~J6c::----u ---- ----- -----~--T~-TREE--CMercurY-L $4)88 
126 i 7/19/2010 !ECOtality, Inc. .. -.... -- -- .... ----: ---ECfY---,--Mercury -- 1 $5,334--

-127. 7/19/2010 :ArviBACuF-i~';ridi:ilGroup, Inc. 5.875% Deb AKT-!U----Me;i-cu;y---I----$5~382----
128: 7h9/2010- Tlnfii-iiiY -Pharmaceuticals, Inc.--- ------,-- --fNFT---i-----Mercury ! $5,600 

__ . ____ .. _. ________ . __ ~ ______ _l___--~__ i 

$2,500 129i---7j1-9Ti(i1b--TAstaTundinfi~-Irl-c~-------------- ! ASFI ! Mercury 
---~~--i'---- - __ uu ______ • - __ i _______ u __ u_. ------_____ • ___ ._ _ _ __ _ _. _.__ __ _. ____ ~.___ _ ___ ~ __ ~ __ ,---_____ u .. _, __ .~ _____ ~ __ 

130' 7/22/2010 :COC Software Corp. ! COCS I Mercury I $4,459 
-------'--------- ---- ----- ------.-- -- -------- ---- ---... ---------- ----- ---.-I--~----.-----_f--------+---------------. 

131 I 7/22/2010 : Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Inc. I INFI I Mercury i $4,458 
.- .. ---.- -- _u, ______ - __ - __ . __ . _u ____ u.__ --.--- -------.- --~--L------------.-r_---------~-I--,;;-~------

132· 7/22/2010 iFlamel Technologies SA i FLML I Mercury i $395 
133: 7/23'12010- i wesisancorp-oration---------- -- ------ ----;--WTSAr----rv,ercury--r-$9)83-

-134~ --!j~-~i~~10-;-C~~t~~r-_~~_n~9~I~~.- ... ---------; --cNBc--I--Mercury-T$7 ,562 ----
135 7/23/2010 :Pzena Investment Management, Inc. -piN---~1 --MerCu-rY-~-T--$3~384---

Page 3 of 4 



APPENDIX 

136' 7 /?~!?Q1Q_L~MJ3!-gf!!!9nE_i_9U:3_r~uJJ' l!1c:§.~?5~[)~!:> ____ L __ 8~I$T ___ l __ ry1_ercury $7 ,9~Q __ 
137]126L?g10_ jP~!lfq~_C!g~_~p. __ __ _ ! PENX! Mercury $5,602 
138 7 /?}/?()1~0 !.9_h_in(3_\.J\JirJ.d Sys!ems,_lnc:: --~-~-J:_~~YY§~_L=~_~Mer~~ry=~=J=J~2..5_Q9_ ~_~~= 
139 7/27/2010 :Convio, Inc. ! CNVO i Mercury i $5,910 
140 - jl27/2010 -_f¢raftBrEili/ers_Alliance -- - --- ---------- i--BQQK_l_=~~rvf~~~~ry_=~~.I~~~j~~_601C~-
141 i 7/27/2010 : PAR Technology Corp.- i __ p}"q __ :_ rvI~~ClJry~_J ___ ~.?!?~? __ 
14? ,_ 7/2.7/2010 !QKL Stores, illc. _ _ __ i_ql$~!3 __ '_fv1_e!cury _____ L __ ~_~,_9_?§ __ _ 
143 7/27/2010 ,Toreador !3es<?urces Corp. i TRGLI_ 1\i1~~c;!Jry __ J __ ~$~,_9_~_~ __ _ 
144 i 8/3/2010 :Coleman Cable, Inc. CCIX KM ! $7,737 
145: _ 8/3/2010 _ ; Craft Brewers Alliance 1-1991< ---~i5fv1-~----1~-=JjjU~~-~~-
146: 8/3/2010 'PC-Tel, Inc. ____ , PCTI I KM ,$1,724 
147 --Si3/2g1 O\'\IaterstoneFinancial, Inc. ___ : __ \j\iSS( _ L __ J{M _-_= __ -I~~]~~~~9 ___ =~ 
148 i 8/3/2010' Penford Corp. PENX I KM __ i~ ~$_1 ,?~_()_ 
149' 8/5/2010 :Intersections, Inc_ :_If'.J!?< ___ L ___ ~_I<.fv1 __ ~~ __ L __ ~~.2~L __ _ 
150: 8/10/2010iMFRI,_lric. - -- i_MERI_ 1 ___ ~~___1 __ ~~04 ____ _ 
151: 8/11/2010 iGaiam, Inc. : GAIA i KM i $4,648 

_ 152 8/11/2010 iKey Tronic Corp. - - i - KTCC i - -- --KM-- r ---s-fs06---
-153-r-s/flI201o : Pen-ford -Corp. - - ,- ----- ---~~ -- ---~---PENX~l--~-----KM-----t-$,f4-49 -----
-- ----1'-- - -- - - i - - --- - - --~--'-------- .. ~------t----~----------___r_----~-----

l~iJf,i~~~~~~~::~E::~~E~~ . u===_ ·~-t~ftt-_~-~J HI -~ ;rT --:~~~~f~-l~-i~!n~~rk~~o;p-.--=~~---·~-- -----------~ --~::~ -J--- ~~~--j ~;:~~~-
--159-:~lf~~~6IQ=+~~~~-t~~~~ei~-n~e-(;-orp:-~ _:-~~~~ __ - - --- ~- - - - -- -AA¢C--+-~~_-=-KM_-=~_ ~,534_ 

---~--~~--~----~---------h--~-~---
! Total Profit: I $874,532 

! .--"i-- ...... ---.-----... _n ------ ••• -.--~.--
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